RECEIVED

10-19-2020

CLERK OF WISCONSIN

SUPREME COURT

# Supreme Court of Wisconsin

2019AP1767-CR

State of Wisconsin, Plaintiff-Respondent

v.

Mitchell L. Christen
Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner

Appeal from The Circuit Court of Dane County The Honorable Nicholas McNamara, presiding

Brief of Appellant-Petitioner Mitchell L. Christen

Steven Roy Attorney for the Defendant-Appellant Wisconsin State Bar No. 1115155 1310 O'Keeffe Ave. #315 Sun Prairie, WI 53590

## **

### Statement of the Issues

Does the consumption of a legal intoxicant void the Second Amendment's guarantee of the right to carry a firearm for the purpose of self-defense?

Statement on Oral Argument and Publication Oral argument and publication are requested.

#### Statement of Facts and the Case

In February of 2018, Mr. Christen was living with Mr. Brandon Hughes and Mr. Chase Ravesteijn. (R. 116:13). Mr. Hughes, one of Mr. Christen's "drinking buddies" had convinced Mr. Christen to move in with him. (R. 116:13). Prior to February, the living situation had been in severe decline. (R. 116:15). Mr. Hughes had previously shoved Mr. Christen and hit Mr. Ravesteijn when he had too much to drink. (R. 116:16). On another occasion when he was drunk, Mr. Hughes had also told Mr. Christen to shoot him. (R. 116:17).

On February 2, 2018, Mr. Christen had enough of his roommates alarming behavior and decided to move out. (R. 116:18). He called the person he would be living with to see if he could come pick him up that night, but Mr. Christen's new roommate had been drinking that evening and made the wise decision to not drive while under the influence. (R. 116:18). Mr. Christen then joined his uncle for dinner and Mr. Christen enjoyed a couple of drinks. (R. 116:19). After dinner, Mr. Christen went to the Tipsy Cow, and then walked back to the shared apartment. (R. 116:19). Mr. Christen estimated he consumed four beers and one shot over the course of the entire evening. (R. 116:60).

When Mr. Christen returned, Mr. Hughes and Mr. Ravesteijn were at the shared apartment drinking. (R. 115:38). Mr. Christen asked his roommates to stop eating and throwing out his food which led to an argument between the three of them. (R. 116:20). Mr. Hughes and Mr. Ravesteijn then left and continued drinking. (R. 115:40). Mr. Hughes and Mr. Ravesteijn returned later that night and were joined by two of their friends. (R. 115:41). This quartet continued drinking in the apartment. (R. 115:41).

There was another argument between Mr. Christen and the quartet of friends. (R. 116:23). Mr. Christen retreated to his room, pointed towards his handgun, and shut the door in his effort to be left alone. (R. 116:24). One of Mr. Ravesteijn's friends, Mr. Mana Alyami, opened Mr. Christen's door. (R. 116:24). In response, Mr. Christen picked up his handgun, and told the intruder to get out of his room. (R. 116:24).

Mr. Christen began recording the situation on his iPhone. (R. 116:24). After about six minutes, Mr. Christen left his room to go to the kitchen. (R. 116:27). For his protection, he tucked his handgun into his waist-band, and continued filming the situation with his iPhone. (R. 116:27-29). In the kitchen, Mr. Christen kept holding his iPhone in his right hand, and reached for string cheese with his left hand. (R. 116:29). Mr. Alyami hit Mr. Christen in his chest and grabbed Mr. Christen's handgun. (R. 115:15, 116:28). Mr. Christen quickly retreated to his room. closed the door, retrieved his secondary weapon, and called 911.

(R. 116:29). Police arrived, and shortly thereafter Mr. Christen was taken into custody. (R. 116:30-31).

A criminal complaint was filed on February 6, 2018. (R. 2:1-3). On March 21, 2018, Mr. Christen filed a motion to have the charge of operating a firearm while intoxicated dismissed on the grounds it violated his right to bear arms and is unconstitutional as applied to the defendant. (R. 17:1). The Circuit Court held a hearing on this motion on July 13, 2018, and ruled the "statute is focused narrowly enough to withstand [the] constitutional challenge that's been raised....It's operating the gun or going armed with the gun. And I recognize the going armed aspect is a little broad perhaps under some scenarios, but I don't think that the definition of going armed is so broad that it makes it impossible for a homeowner to enjoy constitutional rights to bear arms in the home." (R. 109:21-22).

Mr. Christen proceeded to trial and was found guilty of going armed while intoxicated as well as disorderly conduct. (R. 100:1). A notice of intent to seek postconviction relief was filed the day of sentencing. (R. 92:1). A timely notice of appeal was filed on September 13, 2019. (R. 105:1). Mr. Christen filed his brief on November 20, 2019. The State of Wisconsin did not file a response. On March 17, 2020 Judge Blanchard affirmed the circuit court's ruling concluding Mr. Christen had not demonstrate how Wis. Stat. §941.20(1)(b) violated his constitutional right to bear arms.

## Argument

## I. Background and Standard of Review

"A well regulated Militia, being necessary to the security of a free State, the right of the people to keep and bear Arms, shall not be infringed." U.S. Const. Amed. II. Twelve years ago the Supreme Court of United States engaged in its first meaningful discussion of the Second Amendment. Writing for the Court, Justice Scalia undertook an exhaustive investigation into the roots of the Amendment, and concluded the Second Amendment codifies and guarantees the preexisting right of an individual to possess and carry weapons in case of confrontation. *District of Columbia v. Heller*, 544 U.S. 570, 592, 128 S. Ct. 2783 (2008). Like most rights, the right to armed self-defense is not unlimited. *Heller* at 627.

Two years later, the Court held the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment incorporated the Second Amendment rights recognized in *Heller*. *McDonald* v City of Chicago, 561 U.S. 742, 791, 130 S. Ct. 3020 (2010). The Court concluded the central component of the Second Amendment, the right to individual self-defense, is fundamental to our scheme of ordered liberty and deeply rooted in our history and traditions. *McDonald*, at 767-768.

Neither *Heller*, or *McDonald*, provided a familiar analytical framework to use when addressing the constitutionality of a challenged statute or regulation. In *Heller*, the Court held the District's handgun ban would be unconstitutional under any of the standards of scrutiny the court has applied to constitutional

rights. Heller at 628. The federal courts of appeal have filled the "analytical vacuum" with what has been described as "a tripartite binary test with a sliding scale and a reasonable fit". Rogers v. Grewal, 140 S. Ct 1865, 1866-1867 (2020) (Thomas, J., dissenting from denial of certiorari). There is a significant minority of judges and scholars who have interpreted *Heller* as commanding the use of text, history, and tradition in determining whether a challenged law violates the right to keep and bear arms. Rogers v. Grewal, 140 S.Ct. 1866, see also, Heller v. District of Columbia, (Heller II) 670 F.3d 1244, 1272-73, 399 U.S. App. D.C. 314 (D.C. Cir. 2011)(Kavanaugh, J., dissenting); Eugene Volokh, Implementing the Right to Keep and Bear Arms for Self-Defense: An Analytical Framework and Research Agenda, 56 UCLA L. Rev. 1443, 1462 (2009); Joseph Blocher, Categoricalism and Balancing in Fist and Second Amendment Analysis, 84 N.Y.U. L. Rev. 375, 377, 380 (2009).

The lack of clear analytical framework is evident in the circuit court hearing on the constitutionality of Wisconsin Statute §941.20(1)(b). The State assumed intermediate scrutiny should apply, and stated "regulations prohibiting drunken operations of a firearm, even within the home, easily falls within the category of reasonable exercise of police power...It's not hard to visualize a bullet, or shotgun slug, or buckshot passing through windows or walls and causing injury". (R.109:13-14). Without addressing the framework used to justify its holding, the circuit court announced the statute was "focused narrowly enough to

withstand [the] constitutional challenge that's been raised". (R.109:22).

The constitutionality of a statute presents a question of law which is reviewed de novo. State v. Herrmann, 2015 WI App 97 ¶6, 366 Wis. 2d 312, 873 N.W.2d 257 (2015). First, this Court must determine if Mr. Christen's carrying of a firearm in his home after several drinks is within the scope of the Second Amendment. Next, this court must determine which constitutional test to apply: the categorical approach championed by Justices Thomas, Alito, Scalia and Kavanaugh, or the modified tiers of scrutiny adopted by the federal courts of appeals. Should this Court adopt the minority view espousing a categorical approach, the only remaining step would be to determine if the text, history and tradition of Second Amendment regulations support the conclusion the government may restrict the right of armed self-defense to individuals who are sober. If this Court adopts the means-end test favored by the federal courts of appeal, this Court would then need to adopt a level of review dependent on how close the law comes to the core of the Second Amendment right and he severity of the law's burden. After determining the level of scrutiny to apply, this Court would need to address the State's interest and the fit of the law to the interest.

# II. Mr. Christen's Possession of his Firearms Is Within the Scope of the Second Amendment

An as-applied challenge does not contend a law is unconstitutional as written, but the application to a particular person under particular circumstances deprived that person of a constitutional right. Binderup v. AG of United States, 836 F.3d 336, 345 (3rd Cir. 2016). The Second Amendment guarantees the inherent right to possess and carry weapons in case of confrontation. Heller, at 592. The Second Amendment elevates the right of a law-abiding, responsible citizen to use arms in the defense of hearth and home over all other interests. Heller, at 635.

Mr. Christen carried his firearms in his home, for the purpose of self-defense. Mr. Christen owned his firearms legally. Mr. Christen had not been convicted of any criminal offenses, or been dispossessed of his right to bear arms by any other means. The State has never contested these facts.

The Second Amendment guarantees the right to keep and bear arms in case of confrontation. There can be no reasonable dispute Mr. Christen was armed in response to an ongoing situation in which he was afraid he may need to resort to self-defense. This conduct is unquestionably within the scope of the Second Amendment as applied to Mr. Christen. The only question remaining is if the State may strip the Mr. Christen of his rights due to his otherwise lawful behavior of enjoying a few alcoholic beverages.

III. Under a Categorical Approach to the Second Amendment, Wisconsin Statute §941.20(1)(B) Is Unconstitutional As Applied to Mr. Christen

Justice Kavanaugh presents a compelling argument for a categorical approach to analyzing gun bans and restrictions in his dissent in Heller v. District of Columbia, (Heller II), 670 F.3d 1244, 1274-1284. Justice Kavanaugh notes the methodology approved by the majority in *Heller* I will be "more determinative and much less subjective as it depends on a body of evidence susceptible of reasoned analysis rather than a variety of vague ethico-political First Principles whose combined conclusion can be found to point in any direction the judges favor." Heller II, 670 F.3d 1274, quoting McDonald v. City of Chicago, 561 U.S. 742, 804, 130 S. Ct. 3020 (2010)(Scalia, J., concurring). Justice Kavanaugh continues his analysis, noting the back and forth between the majorities in Heller I and McDonald and Justice Breyer's dissent in both cases. Heller II, 1276-1283. Justice Breyer advocated for a "judge-empowering interest balancing inquiry asking whether the statute burdens a protected interest in a way or to an extent that is out of proportion to the statute's salutary effects upon other important interests." Id. at 1277. The *Heller* majority explicitly rejected this emphatically stating there is no other enumerated constitutional right to which the core protection is subject to an interest-balancing approach, and noting the Second Amendment is the very product of an interest balancing by the people and judges should not conduct the balancing anew. Id. Dissenting again in McDonald, Justice

Breyer raised the specter of courts wrestling with difficult empirical questions required by weighing the constitutional right to bear arms against the government's concern for the safety of its citizens. *Id.*, 1279. The *McDonald* court explicitly acknowledged Justice Breyer's opinion in *Heller I*, and again rejected the interest balancing approach stating:

Justice Breyer is incorrect that incorporation will require judges to assess the cost and benefits of firearm restrictions and thus to make difficult empirical judgements in an area in which they lack expertise. As we have noted, while his opinion in *Heller* recommended an interest-balancing test, the Court specifically rejected that suggestion. The very enumeration of the right takes out of the hands of government – even the Third Branch of Government – the power to decide on a case-by-case basis whether the right is really worth insisting upon. *Id.*, at 1279, quoting *McDonald* at 790-791 (internal citations omitted).

A. There Is Little Historical Precedent Supporting the Notion
the State May Disposes an Otherwise Law Abiding Citizen
From Keeping and Bearing Firearms While Under the
Influence of Alcohol

Should this Court adopt the methodology suggested by Justices Thomas, Alito, Scalia and Kavanaugh, this Court will find there is little to no historical precedent for banning the possession of firearms due to alcoholic intoxication. In fact, there

are a plethora of historical sources which plainly contradict this position.

In a letter to John Hancock dated 16 August 1777, George Washington begged the Continental Congress to erect public distilleries in different states. The Papers of George Washington, Revolutionary War Series, vol. 10, 11 June 1777–18 August 1777, ed. Frank E. Grizzard, Jr. Charlottesville: University Press of Virginia, 2000, pp. 637–640]. The British Fleet had blockaded the coast and the supply of strong liquor had become precarious. *Id*. Washington wrote all armies had experienced the benefits from the moderate consumption, and the benefits could not be disputed. Id.

Washington was far from alone; the Nation's navy was also fueled by spirits. "The State Navy of Pennsylvania to Meredith & Clymer." Liquors delivered to the Navy, November 2, 1777, National Archives, Records of the Continental and Confederation Congresses and the Constitutional Convention. In 1790, Congress gave each enlisted man a basic ration of half a gill of rum, brandy, or whiskey. Willam A. Ganoe, The History of the United States Army (New York: Appleton, 1924), 95-96. This ration was increased to a full gill (approximately 4 ounces) in 1802. The United States Army Rations, Miscellaneous Files (Food), Mimeo compilation of ration ingredients, 1775-1930s. U.S. Army Military History Institute, Carlisle Barracks, Carlisle, Pennsylvania.

During the Whiskey Rebellion of 1794, a young Meriwether Lewis wrote home that "We have mountains of beef and oceans of

whiskey." Richard Dillon, Meriwether Lewis, A Biography (New York: Coward-McCann, 1965), 19. It is estimated the Lewis and Clark expedition set out with 120 gallons of whiskey. Robert Hunt, Gills and Drams of Consolation: Ardent Spirits on the Lewis and Clark Expedition, We Proceed On, Vol. 17 No. 3 (1991).

Consumption of alcohol in early America was not limited to the military. Drinking was an accepted part of everyday life. Jane O'Brien The Time when Americans Drank All Day Long, (BBC News March 2015). It was not uncommon for early Americans to begin their day with a drink, sip whiskey at lunch, drink an ale with supper, and finish with a nightcap. Id. In 1790. Americans consumed an average of 5.8 gallons of pure alcohol a year, more than twice the modern average. *Id*.

It is implausible to believe founding-era Americans believed they gave up their right to armed self-defense after consuming alcohol. Would the Continental Army have failed to counter a British attack simply because they had imbibed their ration too soon? Did Lewis and Clark forbid the men of their expedition from carrying their firearms on nights when an extra ration was given? Did the frontiersman believe they had to chose between their nightcap and defending their hearth and home?

This view is confirmed when surveying the lack of founding era laws which restricted the right to possess arms while consuming alcohol. Attorney and scholar Mark Frassetto has compiled a list of nearly one thousand gun laws from colonial times to 1934. Frassetto, Mark, Firearms and Weapons Legislation up to the Early 20th Century (January 15, 2013).

Page 17 of 30

Available at SSRN: <a href="https://ssrn.com/abstract=2200991">https://ssrn.com/abstract=2200991</a> or <a href="https://ssrn.com/abstract=2200991">https://ssrn.com/abstract=22 dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2200991. This compilation provides only two examples of early regulations restricting the usage of firearms in relationship to alcohol. Virginia enacted a prohibition on wasting gun powder while drinking in 1631 and again in 1632. 1631 Va. Acts 155, Acts of February 24th, 1631 Act L. (No commander of any plantation shall either himself or suffer others to spend powder unnecessarily, that is to say, in drinking or entertainments). Virginia again enacted a similar regulation in 1655. 1655 Va. Acts 401, Acts of March 10, 1655, Act XII. (What persons or persons soever shall after publication hereof, shoot any guns at drinking (marriages and funerals only excepted) that such person or persons so offending shall forfeit 100 lb. of tobacco to be levied by distress in case of refusal and to be disposed of by the militia in ammunition towards a magazine for the county where the offence shall be committed). Notably these restrictions only penalize the actual shooting of a firearm, not the possession of a firearm.

If this Court adopts a categorical approach to Second Amendment Claims, the result of this case is clear. There is no historical precedent which would allow the state to disarm otherwise lawful citizens simply because of inebriation, much less disarm citizens in their home, where the need for self-defense is most acute. As such, Wisconsin Statute §941.20(1)(b) is unconstitutional as applied to Mr. Christen.

# IV. Under a Means-End Approach to the Second Amendment, Wisconsin Statute §941.20(1)(B) Is Unconstitutional As Applied to Mr. Christen

The majority of federal circuits have adopted a two-part test created by the Third Circuit in United States v. Marzzarella.1 The Wisconsin court of appeals also appears to have adopted this test. State v. Pocian, 2012 WI App 58, 341 Wis. 2d 380. The initial step is to identify if the challenged law imposes a burden on conduct falling within the scope of the Second Amendment's guarantee; if it does not, then the inquiry is complete. United States v. Marzzarella, 614 F.3d 85, 89 (3d Cir. 2010). If the law does burden the Second Amendment's guarantee, then the circuits have moved to some form of means-end scrutiny. Id. As demonstrated above, the challenged law does burden the rights guaranteed to Mr. Christen by the Second Amendment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> United States v. Marzzarella, 614 F.3d 85, 89 (3d Cir. 2010); Adopted in: NYSRPA. Inc. v. Cuomo, 804 F.3d 242, 254 (2d Cir. 2015); United States v. Chester, 628 F.3d 673, 680 (4th Cir. 2010); NRA v. BATFE, 700 F.3d 185, 194 (5th Cir. 2012); United States v. Greeno, 679 F.3d 510, 518 (6th Cir. 2012); Ezell v. City of Chicago, 651 F.3d 684, 701-03 (7th Cir. 2011) (but see Friedman v. City of Highland Park, 784 F.3d 406, 410 (7th Cir. 2015) ("Illnstead of trying to decide what 'level' of scrutiny applies, and how it works, inquiries that do not resolve any concrete dispute, we think it better to ask whether a regulation bans weapons that were common at the time of ratification or those that have 'some reasonable relationship to the preservation or efficiency of a well regulated militia,' and whether lawabiding citizens retain adequate means of self-defense.")) (internal citations omitted); United States v. Chovan, 735 F.3d 1127, 1136-37 (9th Cir. 2013); United States v. Reese, 627 F.3d 792, 800-01 (10th Cir. 2010) ("Heller thus suggests a two-pronged approach to Second Amendment challenges to federal statutes.") (internal quotations omitted); GeorgiaCarry.Org, Inc. v. Georgia, 687 F.3d 1244, 1261 n.34 (11th Cir. 2012); Heller v. District of Columbia (Heller II), 670 F.3d 1244, 1252 (D.C. Cir. 2011)

The majority of the circuits agree laws which burden Second Amendment rights must receive something stricter than rational basis review.<sup>2</sup> Some circuits have developed a dual

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