**FILED** 11-24-2020 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT** 

# STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2019AP1767-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MITCHELL L. CHRISTEN,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN DANE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE NICHOLAS MCNAMARA, PRESIDING

## BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

NICHOLAS S. DESANTIS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1101447

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

#### ARGUMENT

I. Wis. Stat. 941.20(1)(b) is constitutional as applied to Christen because it does not burden his fundamental Second Amendment right to armed self-defense.

Statutes that do not substantially burden the core Second Amendment right to armed self-defense are subject to intermediate scrutiny. Wisconsin Stat. § 941.20(1)(b) did not burden Christen's right to armed self-defense. Because Wis. Stat. § 941.20(1)(b) is substantially related to an important government objective, it survives intermediate scrutiny and is therefore constitutional as applied to Christen.

Α. as-applied challenge requires An defendant to prove that a statute actually violated his constitutional rights based on the particular facts of his case.

There are two types of constitutional challenges to a statute: facial challenges and as-applied challenges. A party making a facial challenge must prove that the statute cannot constitutionally "be enforced 'under any circumstances." State v. Wood, 2010 WI 17, ¶ 13, 323 Wis. 2d 321, 780 N.W.2d 63 (citation omitted). A successful facial challenge renders a law "void 'from its beginning to the end." *Id* (citation omitted)

An as-applied challenge, in contrast, questions only the constitutionality of a statute "on the facts of a particular case or [as applied] to a particular party." Mayo v. Wisconsin Injured Patients & Families Comp. Fund, 2018 WI 78, ¶ 27, 383 Wis. 2d 1, 914 N.W.2d 678 (citation omitted). For this reason, an as-applied challenge requires this Court to "assess the merits of the challenge by considering the facts of the particular case in front of [this Court], 'not hypothetical facts

in other situations." Wood, 323 Wis. 2d 321, ¶ 13 (citation omitted).

Christen's Second Amendment challenge to Wis. Stat. § 941.20(1)(b) is an as-applied challenge, not a facial challenge. (Christen's Br. 12, 17.) For this reason, he cannot succeed by showing that the statute may violate other defendants' Second Amendment right under different facts. He must instead prove that his own Second Amendment right to armed self-defense was actually violated under the specific facts of this case. *Wood*, 323 Wis. 2d 321, ¶ 13.

# B. Firearm restrictions that do not burden the core Second Amendment right to bear arms for self-defense in the home are subject to intermediate scrutiny

The Second Amendment to the United States Constitution states: "A well regulated Militia, being necessary to the security of a free State, the right of the people to keep and bear Arms, shall not be infringed." U.S. Const. amend. II. The United States Supreme Court held in *District of Columbia v. Heller (Heller I)*, 554 U.S. 570, 592, 634–35 (2008), that the Second Amendment right to keep and bear arms is an individual right and that the "core" right protected by the Second Amendment is "the right of law-abiding, responsible citizens to use arms in defense of hearth and home."

Two years later, the United States Supreme Court held that the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment protects the Second Amendment right to keep and bear arms against state infringement. *McDonald v. City of Chicago*, 561 U.S. 742, 750 (2010). The Supreme Court reaffirmed that individual self-defense is "the central component" of the Second Amendment right. *Id.* at 767 (citation omitted). "[I]t has always been widely understood that the Second

Amendment, like the First and Fourth Amendments, codified a *pre-existing* right"—the amendment presupposed the existence of the right and declares only that it "shall not be infringed." *Heller*, 554 U.S. at 592.

Like most rights, however, "the right secured by the Second Amendment is not unlimited." *Heller*, 554 U.S. at 626. The Second Amendment does not guarantee "a right to keep and carry any weapon whatsoever in any manner whatsoever and for whatever purpose." *Id.* The *Heller* court explained, for example, that the Second Amendment did not invalidate "prohibitions on the possession of firearms by felons and the mentally ill, or laws forbidding the carrying of firearms in sensitive places such as schools and government buildings, or imposing conditions and qualifications commercial sale of arms." *Id.* at 626–27. The Supreme Court did not specify a framework for determining the level of scrutiny to apply when analyzing Second Amendment challenges. Id. at 628. The Supreme Court did explain, however, that rational basis would be inappropriate because it would make the Second Amendment "redundant with the separate constitutional prohibitions on irrational laws." Id. at 628 n.27.

In the years following *Heller* and *McDonald*, the federal circuits have been presented with numerous Second Amendment challenges and have reached an overwhelming consensus on the framework for analyzing them. The circuit courts have developed a two-step approach. The first step is to answer the threshold question of "whether the regulated activity falls within the scope of the Second Amendment." *Ezell v. City of Chicago (Ezell II)*, 846 F.3d 888, 892 (7th Cir. 2017); see also Stimmel v. Sessions, 879 F.3d 198, 204 (6th Cir. 2018). "This is a textual and historical inquiry; if the government can establish that the challenged law regulates activity falling outside the scope of the right as originally

understood, then 'the regulated activity is categorically unprotected, and the law is not subject to further Second Amendment review." Ezell, 846 F.3d at 892 (citation omitted); see National Rifle Ass'n of America, Inc. v. McCraw, 719 F.3d 338, 346–47 (5th Cir. 2013).

If the regulated activity falls within the scope of the Second Amendment as originally understood, or if the history is not entirely clear, the next step is an "inquiry into the strength of the government's justification for restricting or regulating" the defendant's conduct. Ezell, 846 F.3d at 892 (quoting Ezell v. City of Chicago (Ezell I), 651 F.3d 684, 703 (7th Cir. 2011)). The level of means-end scrutiny used to review the challenged regulation "is dependent on how close the law comes to the core of the Second Amendment right and the severity of the law's burden on the right." Kanter v. Barr, 919 F.3d 437, 441 (7th Cir. 2019) (citation omitted). The closer a law comes to substantially burdening the core right, the higher the level of scrutiny. Id.

The "core" of the Second Amendment right is "the right of law-abiding, responsible citizens to use arms in defense of hearth and home." Id. (quoting Heller, 554 U.S at 634–35); see also, e.g., United States v. Marzzarella, 614 F.3d 85, 92 (3rd Cir. 2010) ("At its core, the Second Amendment protects the right of law-abiding citizens to possess non-dangerous weapons for self-defense in the home."); United States v. Chester, 628 F.3d 673, 676 (4th Cir. 2010). The level of scrutiny courts apply in Second Amendment cases depends on two things: whether a challenged law strikes at the core right of the Second Amendment, and if so, whether the challenged law substantially burdens the core right. Ezell, 846 F.3d at 892.

Courts are divided on exactly which level of scrutiny applies if a law substantially burdens the core Second Amendment right. Some circuits, such as the Ninth and D.C.

Filed 11-24-2020

Circuits, apply strict scrutiny to laws "that both implicate a core Second Amendment right and place a substantial burden on that right," while applying intermediate scrutiny to laws that either do not strike at the core right or do not impose a substantial burden on the core right. Mai v. United States, 952 F.3d 1106, 1115 (9th Cir. 2020); see also Heller v. District of Columbia (Heller II), 670 F.3d 1244, 1262 (D.C. Cir. 2011). Other circuits, including the Seventh Circuit, intermediate scrutiny but use a sliding scale approach. *Kanter*, 919 F.3d at 441. "Severe burdens on the core right of armed defense require a very strong public-interest justification and a close means-end fit; lesser burdens, and burdens on activity lying closer to the margins of the right, are more easily justified." Ezell, 846 F.3d at 892. Under either approach, however, laws that do not substantially burden the core Second Amendment right to self-defense are upheld so long as they are "substantially related to an important government objective." Kanter, 919 F.3d at 448. The fit between the challenged law and the governmental objective "need only 'be reasonable, not perfect." Kanter, 919 F.3d at 448 (quoting *Mazzarella* 614 F.3d at 98).

This two-step approach has become the consensus framework for analyzing Second Amendment challenges in light of *Heller* and *McDonald*. This framework has been adopted by the First, <sup>2</sup> Second, <sup>3</sup> Third, <sup>4</sup> Fourth, <sup>5</sup> Fifth, <sup>6</sup> Sixth, <sup>7</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Gould v. Morgan, 907 F.3d 659, 670–71 (1st Cir. 2018).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> United States v. Jimenez, 895 F.3d 228, 232 (2nd Cir. 2018).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> United States v. Marzzarella, 614 F.3d 85, 89 (3rd Cir. 2010).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> United States v. Chester, 628 F.3d 673, 680 (4th Cir. 2010).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> National Rifle Ass'n of America, Inc. v. McCraw, 719 F.3d 338, 346–47 (5th Cir. 2013).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Stimmel v. Sessions, 879 F.3d 198, 204 (6th Cir. 2018).

Seventh,<sup>8</sup> Ninth,<sup>9</sup> Tenth,<sup>10</sup> Eleventh,<sup>11</sup> and D.C.<sup>12</sup> Circuits. Several state supreme courts have had occasion to address Second Amendment challenges after Heller and McDonald and have also adopted the federal circuits' consensus approach. See, e.g., Norman v. State, 215 So.3d 18, 35 (Fla. 2017) ("[W]e apply the two-step analysis that has been employed by the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit . . . and nearly every other federal circuit court of appeal after *Heller* and *McDonald* to determine the appropriate the level of scrutiny."); State v. DeCiccio, 105 A.3d 165, 187 (Conn. 2014); Bridgeville Rifle & Pistol Club, Ltd. V. Small, 176 A.3d 632, 654–55 (Del. 2017); Hertz v. Bennett, 751 S.E.2d 90, 93 (Ga. 2013); People v. Chairez, 104 N.E.3d 1158, 1167 (Ill. 2018); Pohlabel v. State, 268 P.3d 1264, 1267 (Nev. 2012); City of Seattle v. Evans, 366 P.3d 906, 918 (Wa. 2015) (en banc). Likewise, the Wisconsin Court of Appeals used the consensus approach in State v. Herrmann, 2015 WI App 97, ¶ 9, 366 Wis. 2d 312, 873 N.W.2d 257.

Christen asks this Court to ignore all this wellestablished law and to adopt a novel approach to Second Amendment challenges that he calls the "categorical approach." (Christen's Br. 12.) Under Christen's proposed "categorical approach," a statute regulating the use of firearms can be constitutional only if there is a founding-era

<sup>8</sup> Ezell v. City of Chicago, 846 F.3d 888, 892 (7th Cir. 2017).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Teixeira v. County of Alameda, 873 F.3d 670, 681–82 (9th Cir. 2017).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> United States v. Reese, 627 F.3d 792, 800–801 (10th Cir. 2010).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> United States v. Focia, 869 F.3d 1269, 1285 (11th Cir. 2017).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Heller v. District of Columbia ("Heller II"), 670 F.3d 1244, 1252–53 (D.C. Cir. 2011).

"historical precedent" for such a regulation. (Christen's Br. 16.) This would mean Wis. Stat. § 941.20(1)(b) could not be constitutional as applied to Christen unless historical precedent showed that similar or analogous regulations existed at the time the Second Amendment was drafted. (Christen's Br. 16.) He claims that a "significant minority of judges and scholars" espouse his categorical approach. (Christen's Br. 9.) In support of this assertion, he cites two dissents, as well as two law review articles that predate the McDonald decision. (Christen's Br. 9.)

This Court should reject Christen's extraordinary request to create a novel approach to analyzing Second Amendment challenges. While Christen refers to his proposed approach as the "minority view" (Christen's Br. 10), he fails to cite a single published opinion by any court, state or federal, that has ever adopted it. This failure comes despite the fact that the federal circuits and several state supreme courts have squarely addressed the issue since Heller and *McDonald* were decided more than a decade ago.

Given this complete lack of support in the law for his proposed approach, Christen relies almost exclusively on a single dissent, written by now-Supreme Court Justice Brett Kavanaugh in Heller II, 670 F.3d 1244. (Christen's Br. 12– 13.) But a dissent is not the law. "A dissent is what the law is not." State v. Perry, 181 Wis. 2d 43, 49, 510 N.W.2d 722 (Ct. App. 1993).

Further, Christen does not explain why his proposed approach is more faithful to the Second Amendment's original meaning. The mere fact that a certain type of law did not happen to exist at the time of the founding does not imply that it conflicts with the Constitution as originally understood. See, e.g., Marzzarella, 614 F.3d at 87, 93 (upholding a law that prohibited owning a firearm with an obliterated serial

number despite the fact that serial numbers on firearms did not exist at the time of the founding).

Finally, Christen's argument ignores stare decisis. "This court follows the doctrine of stare decisis scrupulously because of [its] abiding respect for the rule of law." State v. Luedtke, 2015 WI 42, ¶ 40, 362 Wis. 2d 1, 863 N.W.2d 592 (citation omitted). "The principle of stare decisis applies to the published decisions of the court of appeals, and stare decisis requires [this Court] to follow court of appeals precedent unless a compelling reason exists to overrule it." Wenke v. Gehl Co., 2004 WI 103, ¶ 21, 274 Wis. 2d 220, 682 N.W.2d 405 (citations omitted). This point is significant here because the proper framework for analyzing a Second Amendment claim is not a matter of first impression in Wisconsin. The court of appeals in *Herrmann* used the two-step framework that virtually every court to consider the issue has adopted. *Herrmann*, 366 Wis. 2d 312, ¶ 9. Christen has not provided a compelling reason for overturning *Herrmann*.

In short, the choice between the federal circuits' twopronged approach to Second Amendment challenges and Christen's proposed "categorical approach" is not merely a choice between majority and minority approaches. It is a choice between the overwhelming consensus approach that the Wisconsin Court of Appeals adopted five years ago, and a novel approach that Christen does not even claim any court has ever used. This Court should decline to chart an entirely new course in Second Amendment law and should apply the well-established, well-developed consensus approach used by the federal circuits, several other state supreme courts, and the Wisconsin Court of Appeals.

Filed 11-24-2020

C. Wisconsin Stat. § 941.20(1)(b) does not burden Christen's core Second Amendment right to self-defense in his home, and the statute passes intermediate scrutiny

As discussed above, determining whether Wis. Stat. § 941.20(1)(b) violated Christen's Second Amendment right to armed self-defense requires a two-step analysis. First, this Court must determine whether the regulated conduct clearly falls outside the scope of the Second Amendment as traditionally understood. *Ezell* 846 F.3d at 892; *Herrmann*, 366 Wis. 2d 312, ¶ 9. If it does, the inquiry is over. If it does not, this Court must determine which level of scrutiny to apply by determining whether Wis. Stat. § 941.20(1)(b) substantially burdens the core Second Amendment right to self-defense in the home. *See Ezell* 846 F.3d at 892; *Kanter*, 919 F.3d at 441; *Herrmann*, 366 Wis. 2d 312, ¶ 9.

In this case, it is not clear that the conduct regulated by Wis. Stat. § 939.20(1)(b) falls entirely outside the scope of the Second Amendment as traditionally understood. However, the statute does not implicate Christen's core Second Amendment right to armed self-defense, so it is subject to intermediate scrutiny. Wisconsin Stat. § 941.20(1)(b) passes intermediate scrutiny because it is substantially related to the important governmental objectives of protecting public safety and preventing intoxicated individuals from handling firearms.

1. Wisconsin Stat. § 941.20(1)(b) and the statutory scheme of which it is a part did not impose any burden on Christen's fundamental right to armed self-defense in the home.

Wisconsin Stat. § 941.20(1)(b) imposes no burden on the core Second Amendment right of self-defense in the home. Contrary to Christen's assertions, it does not "restrict the

right of armed self-defense to individuals who are sober." (Christen's Br. 10.) When read in isolation, the subsection under which Christen was convicted does not explicitly mention self-defense. But the statute does not exist in isolation—it exists as part of a coherent statutory scheme that strongly protects the fundamental right to armed self-defense.

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